IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC96177

KENNETH ALLEN STEWART, Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA, Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE THIRTEENTH CIRCUIT COURT OF THE CIRCUIT JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

HARRY P. BRODY FLORIDA BAR NO. 0977860 ASSISTANT CCRC

JEFFREY M. HAZEN FLORIDA BAR NO. 0153060 CCRC-MIDDLE ATTORNEY

CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL-MIDDLE REGION 3801 Corporex Park Drive Suite 210 Tampa, Florida 33619 (813)740-3544

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

VI. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On May 13, 1985, Mr. Stewart was charged by information with two counts of attempted first-degree murder, armed robbery, and arson (R2. 3-4). When one of the victims wounded subsequently died, Mr. Stewart was indicted for first-degree murder (R2. 17-18). The charges regarding both victims were consolidated for trial (R. 1024-25). On June 3, 1986, attorney Rex Barbas was appointed to represent Mr. Stewart. (R. 925).

Trial was held on August 25-27, 1986, and, on August 27, 1986, the jury rendered a verdict of guilty for first-degree murder, with a special verdict of felony murder (R. 1011). The jury also returned guilty verdicts on the counts of attempted second-degree murder with a firearm, robbery with a firearm, and second-degree arson (R. 904-906).

On August 27, 1986, the jury recommended that Mr. Stewart be sentenced to death (R. 1012). The court followed this recommendation without making written findings in support of death (R2. 37). Subsequently, the Florida Supreme Court remanded the case for written findings in support of death and for resentencing on the armed robbery conviction based on a guidelines departure. Stewart v. State, 549 So.2d 1171 (Fla. 1989).

On December 8, 1989, a hearing was held on the resentencing order (R2. 87). At this time, Attorney Barbas requested an opportunity to do investigation ... to find mitigating circumstances (R2. 88-89). The Court set a hearing for December 21st, with formal written findings set for December 22, 1989 (R2. 92-93).

On December 21, 1989, Mr. Barbas advised the Court there was nothing in mitigation (RS. 74). Mr. Stewart requested a continuance because he wanted to present some character witnesses in mitigation prior to resentencing (R2. 78). Further, Mr. Stewart advised the court that he had not seen his attorney prior to the resentencing (R2. 78). The court denied this request, saying, "You've had plenty of time to prepare this and other hearings" (R2. 79). On December 22, 1989, the judge made written findings in support of the death sentence (R2. 24-25). The court found two aggravators, previous conviction of a felony involving violence and capital felony committed in commission of a robbery, and the court found three statutory mitigating circumstances: extreme mental or emotional disturbance (slight weight), impaired capacity (little weight), and age (little weight) (R2. 24-25). Although the court also mentioned "catch-all"mitigation related to "some sort of trauma" Defendant suffered

at age 13, he gave it no weight. On direct appeal, the Florida Supreme Court affirmed the death sentence. <u>Stewart v. State</u>, 588 So.2d 972 (Fla. 1991).

On September 17, 1996, Mr. Stewart filed his Third Amended Motion to Vacate Judgments of Conviction and Sentence (PC-R. 42-186). On April 2, 1997, the circuit court held a Huff hearing, and, on August 4, 1997, the court entered an order denying in part Mr. Stewart's claims for relief¹ (PC-R. 295-304).

On December 17, 1998 and on March 19, 1999, an evidentiary hearing was held on the claims not summarily denied, and, on June 25, 1999, the lower court entered an order denying the remaining claims (PC-R. 373-491).

On July 21, 1999, the defendant gave timely Notice of Appeal of the circuit court's denial of his 3.850 motion.

VII. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A. <u>Guilt-Phase Testimony</u>

At trial, the State called Michelle Acosta, one of the victims (R. 287). Ms. Acosta testified that she and Mark Harris, the deceased victim, were riding in her 1978 Monte Carlo on the evening of April 13, 1985. (R. 290). She was driving (R. 290). They bought a six pack of beer and went to the beach (R. 291-292). Later, taking Mr. Harris home, she drove North on Nebraska Avenue and picked up a

¹Claims 1, 2, 4, 7, 8, 9, 11, 12, 13, 14, 17, 18, 19, 20, 21, 22, 23, 24, 25 and 26 were summarily denied. An evidentiary hearing was granted on Claims 3, 5, 6, and 10. The defendant appeals the denial of Claims 2, 3, 5, 6, 8, 12, 14, 27, 18, 24, 25, and 26.

hitchhiker near the intersection of Nebraska Avenue and Busch Boulevard (R. 292-293). She identified Mr. Stewart as the hitchhiker (R. 293). Ms. Acosta testified that Mr. Stewart responded to her and Mr. Harris' questions as to where he wanted to go by indicating "Fowler," another street that intersects Nebraska Avenue (R. 296). Mr. Stewart's speech was slurred (R. 296). She knew that he was probably "on something" (R. 296). She took a right on Fowler and, as they approached 22nd Street, she and Harris told Mr. Stewart they needed to drop him off. (R. 296-97). He asked her to take him back to 15th Street (R. 297). She turned around to take him back and turned onto 15th Street at a school (R. 298). Ms. Acosta testified that she pulled in the school parking lot and stopped the car, but didn't turn it off (R. 298). After she put her foot on the brake, Mr. Stewart told them "not to move, that he had a knife" (R. 298). Ms. Acosta testified that she didn't know what to do and sat there for 15 seconds (R. 299). Suddenly she hit the gas apparently to startle or surprise Mr. Stewart, but he struck her with a gun butt (R. 299). She heard three gun shots, and was hit in the shoulder blade (R. 300). Ms. Acosta testified that Mr. Harris was "instantly paralyzed" and that Stewart got out of the passenger door and pulled Harris out (R. 300). Then she got out of the car when Stewart came around and grabbed her wrist (R. 300). Mr. Stewart then drove away (R. 300).

On cross-examination, Ms. Acosta admitted that, at first, she thought she'd been shot in the head and that the shots happened pretty much all at the same time as the blow to her head (R. 306). She testified that she didn't know how Mr. Stewart got out of the back seat to remove Mr. Harris from the car, but that Stewart didn't get out on her side (R. 307). Ms. Acosta again admits that she thought Mr. Stewart was drunk (R. 311).

Terry Lynn Smith testified that he first met Mr. Stewart in 1984, around Thanksgiving (R. 352). In the early morning hours of Sunday, April 14, 1985, Mr. Smith was at the Starlight Lounge on Nebraska Avenue when Margie Sawyer, with whom Mr. Stewart lived in an abandoned office space, came into the bar and signaled Mr. Smith outside, where Stewart was waiting in a dark blue or a black Monte Carlo (R. 355-357). According to Smith, Mr. Stewart said he shot two people who picked him up hitchhiking on Nebraska Avenue (R. 360). Mr. Stewart also said that the man in the passenger seat shared a beer with him and that the woman stopped at a 7-Eleven and bought another beer for Harris (R. 361). Smith testified that Stewart said that he told the people just to pull over, but they did not stop and he shot the man, then fired a shot at the girl (R. 361). Then, Smith said Stewart told him that he climbed into the front seat and pulled the car over (R. 361). The girl got out of the car and, according to Smith, Stewart crawled over the man, opened the passenger side, and pulled the man out (R. 361-2). Stewart then drove off (R. 362). Later, Smith testified, he accompanied Mr. Stewart to the parking lot of Floriland Mall, where Stewart burned the car (R. 363-4).

On cross-examination, Mr. Smith testified that he pled guilty to three "life" felonies and two "fifteen year" felonies, which were reduced charges from the "at least five full life felonies" he faced prior to providing testimony against Mr. Stewart, in exchange for those reductions and for his testimony (R. 366). Further, Mr. Smith acknowledged that he understood that he would not be sentenced until after he testified against Stewart (R. 366).

Next, Mrs. Estelle Berryhill, Mr. Stewart's grandmother, testified that Mr. Stewart called her on April 25, 1985 and Mr. Stewart told her that "he thought he shot a man", and that Mr. Smith burned the car (R. 386).

Detective Lease testified that he listened to the conversation between Mrs. Berryhill and Mr. Stewart (R. 402). When Mrs. Berryhill asked Mr. Stewart "why he had done it," Stewart said, according to Lease, "I guess to rob them." Stewart then told her that "[T]hey are in the hospital. And they are going to be all right" (R. 403).

Finally, Mr. Driggs, the Hillsborough County medical examiner, testified that he performed an autopsy on Mr. Harris on May 12, 1985 (R. 425-426). Dr. Driggs also testified that Mr. Harris died from pneumonia and that the bullet wound

weakened his body and made him susceptible to infection (R. 430-432). According to Driggs, the "mechanism of death" was pneumonia and "the cause of death" was the wound (R. 432).

The defense called no witnesses.

B. <u>Penalty-Phase Testimony</u>

During penalty-phase, the defense called Bruce Scarpo, who testified that he was Mr. Stewart's guardian "since he was eighteen months old" and was "awarded custody" through his mother in a Tampa court (R. 634). Scarpo called himself Mr. Stewart's stepfather, "papers or no papers" (R. 634). Scarpo met Kenny's mother when she worked for him in Tampa (R. 635). He first saw Kenny when Kenny was 18 months old (R. 635). Scarpo testified that Kenny's mother had had problems "through her childhood" and was about to have her son taken away by the State when Scarpo told the family court that he and "Terri" were going to marry (R. 635). Kenny's mother's real name was Elsie, but everyone called her "Terri" (R. 636). After Scarpo "assured" the judge they were married and the court investigated his family, the judge decided that he and Terri could keep the child (R. 635). Scarpo claims that he then had problems with her immediate family and moved to Miami (R. 635). Scarpo said he wanted to get Terri away from her violent family (R. 636). However, Miami was still too close to the Stewarts so he, Terri, and Kenny moved to Charleston, where Scarpo still lives (R. 636). Scarpo testified that Terri's family drank, fought, argued, and continually interfered with his personal life, with Terri, and with "the upbringing up the child" (R. 636).

In Charleston, he and Terri did pretty good for awhile, although Terri got on drinking sprees (R. 637). Then when Kenny was three, she left with a young "thug" from Miami, taking Kenny with her (R. 637). According to Scarpo, the "thug" robbed 7-Elevens for a living (R. 638). Terri and the thug periodically called Scarpo for money, and, after the thug hocked his gun, Scarpo refused to send money, even though Terri told him that Kenny had only had a hot dog to eat for three days. (R. 637-39). Subsequently, Terri brought Kenny back to Charleston, were she and her boyfriend broke up (R. 637-9). She then went on her "merry way," leaving Kenny with Scarpo (R. 639). Kenny was four (R. 639). In 1968, Scarpo remarried (R. 639). He testified that Kenny was five at that time (R. 641).

In six, maybe eight, months Kenny adjusted to life with Scarpo and, though mischievous at times, did well (R. 641). Kenny blended in with the rest of the children and had no more problems (R. 644). The "rest of the children" were Scarpo's new wife's children, the eldest of whom had, according to Scarpo, just finished medical school, the second eldest of whom had just graduated from "Nuclear School," and the youngest of whom had just received her real estate license and

managed two jewelry stores in North Carolina (R. 645). Mr. Scarpo testified that his family was like "the Walton's" (R. 646). Kenny was a "good boy", a "typical boy", and Scarpo never had "any serious problems with him" (R. 646).

Then, Scarpo continued, the big change came when Kenny was about thirteen (R. 647). Kenny ran away and, two days later, Scarpo got a call from Mr. Berryhill, Kenny's grandfather in Tampa (R. 647). Mr. Berryhill put Kenny on the phone, and he called Scarpo a liar and a phony (R. 648). Scarpo testified he hadn't told Kenny that he was not Kenny's "real" father and, Scarpo said, Kenny told him that he wanted to live with his own flesh and blood (R. 648).

The Berryhills, who, Scarpo insinuates, were only after Kenny's social security benefits, were awarded custody of him (R. 650). Then, Scarpo testified, Scarpo started getting strange phone calls from Kenny about his mother, who had committed suicide in 1968, and about his father, who was murdered in 1971 (R. 649-650). Eventually, after Kenny was arrested for a "burglary or something," Scarpo went to Tampa to appear in juvenile court with Kenny (R. 650). Kenny received six months probation and, because social security only paid \$58.00 a month, the Berryhills gave Kenny back to him (R. 650).

Upon returning to Charleston, Kenny, according to Scarpo, had changed (R. 651). Kenny was introverted and believed that Scarpo was instrumental in his

father's death, a story which during the year or year and a half that Kenny was in Tampa, the Berryhills had, Scarpo said, drilled this into Kenny's head (R. 652).

After he returned from Tampa, Kenny started getting into trouble in school (R. P. 653). Before then, Scarpo testified, he and Kenny hunted, fished, and rode in boats (R. 653). Kenny idolized him and felt that he, Kenny, had authority over the other children because Scarpo was his dad (R. 654). Kenny depended on Scarpo for any little problem he would have (R. 654). But after Kenny returned from Tampa, he would daydream and not come to Scarpo with problems (R. 654).

Scarpo testified that he hadn't had problems with his other children except for the typical problems that all children have (R. 664). He testified that he knows what was there for Kenny for thirteen years and that a lot can be salvaged of him (R. 665). Scarpo says that he knows it will be twenty-five, maybe fifty years before Kenny gets out of prison but that Kenny can be an asset to the community (R. 665). Kenny, Scarpo tells the jury, just needs some help to deal with those "wrong, bad stories" the Berryhills told him about Scarpo (R. 665).

On cross-examination, Scarpo reiterated that his oldest daughter just graduated from medical school, that his son finished nuclear school, and that his younger daughter passed the real estate exam with a high average (R. 672). None of them have had any type of problem, Scarpo told the jury (R. 672). Finally, he stated that

he never abused or mistreated Kenny "in any fashion any time" (R. 672). The change in Kenny occurred because "they loaded up his head with me being instrumental in his father's death," despite the fact that Scarpo was a good father for many years, took Kenny hunting and fishing, and raised Kenny with his other children (R. 673). He idolized me, Scarpo concluded (R. 673).

James Hayward testified that he called Mr. Stewart's counsel the morning of the penalty-phase (R. 674). Hayward had been married to Kenny's father's sister, Kenny's aunt (R. 675). Kenny had lived with Hayward and the aunt for two to three months in "about 1977" (R. 675). Apparently, Hayward had related to Kenny sketchy details of his mother's and father's deaths (R. 675-6). Hayward also had told Kenny about the traffic accident deaths of two aunts and a nephew and his grandfather's death from cancer (R. 676). On cross-examination Hayward admitted that he hadn't seen Mr. Stewart since the thirteen year-old Stewart stayed with him (R. 676).

The defense called Dr. Walter Afield, a psychiatrist and expert in neuropsychiatry (R. 683). Dr. Afield testified that he first saw Mr. Stewart during the week of August 11, 1985 (R. 684). Afield saw him again on the night before Afield testified (R. 684). Afield bases his opinion on facts consistent with Scarpo's testimony, particularly that, from ages 5 to 13, Kenny was very happy and fit in the

happy Scarpo home (R. 686). Prior to the age of five, Afield testified, the mother and her boyfriends abused Kenny, and, after the age of 13, the father's relatives turned him against Scarpo (R. 685-686). Dr. Afield testified that Kenny received a "postgraduate course in how to be a psychopath" (R. 690). Afield further predicted, "I think this young man is going to kill himself at some point" (R. 690). He told the jury that Kenny tried to kill himself (R. 690). He even opined that Kenny is not treatable and not rehabilitatable (R. 691). Afield found that Mr. Stewart has an impairment in conforming his conduct to the "capacity" of the law (R. 694). Afield told the jury that Mr. Stewart got a "slight break" during his life with Mr. Scarpo, from whom Mr. Stewart received "a reasonable sort and reasonable amount of stability" (R. 694). Then, Dr. Afield repeated that Mr. Stewart can't be rehabilitated and will kill himself (R. 696). On cross-examination, Dr. Afield testified that most of his information about Mr. Stewart came from Scarpo (R. 699).

Joyce Engle testified that she met Stewart in jail after his arrest (R. 701). She testified that Stewart had shown remorse and was "salvageable" (R. 703).

Lash LaRue, the cowboy actor, testified that he knew Scarpo and had visited Kenny at Scarpo's (R. 705-06). LaRue saw a change in Kenny when he was thirteen or fourteen (R. 706). Scarpo attributed it to finding out Scarpo wasn't his real dad (R. 706).

Susan Alice Berg Medly testified by deposition that she is Kenny's stepsister (R. 712). She testified that he was pretty troubled when he was growing up (R. 715). Susan testified that Kenny learned that Scarpo wasn't his real father when he overheard a conversation between her mother and a friend (R. 717). Susan testified that Kenny got in more serious trouble in his teens but that he'd gotten in trouble prior to that as well (R. 718). Susan described Kenny as loving (R. 721).

The last witness at trial was Joanne Scarpo (R. 724). She testified that she lived with Bruce Scarpo and considered Kenny her child (R. 724). She asserted that Kenny worshiped Scarpo and speculated that Kenny may have resented her and her daughters (R. 725). After thirteen, Kenny, she said, was very, very troubled (R. 725). She testified that Kenny didn't get in trouble before he was thirteen (R. 326). Before turning thirteen he went to church, but she doesn't think he got to know God, though recently, he has shown remorse (R. 727-729).

C. <u>Evidentiary Hearing Testimony and Evidence</u>

Susan Smith Moore, who had testified by deposition in penalty-phase as Susan Alice Berg Medley, testified that she is Mr. Stewart's stepsister (EH. 6). She was four or five when her mother moved in with Scarpo (EH. 6). Kenny is a year younger than her (EH. 6). Susan lived with Scarpo for ten or eleven years, moving out when she was fifteen because of physical abuse by Scarpo (EH. 8). Susan described the

physical abuse by Scarpo, when the children were small, as spankings or whippings with his belt or hands (EH. 9). As the children got older, the beatings and kickings got worse (EH. 9). Scarpo beat Kenny with his fists, as if Kenny was a grown man (EH. 9). Moore witnessed these beatings (EH. 9). Once, when Kenny was ten or eleven, he failed to take the trash out (EH. 9). The family was sitting at the kitchen table when Scarpo learned of this (EH. 9). Scarpo started screaming at Kenny, then beat him over the kitchen table, knocked him down, ordered him to be a man and get up, pulled him up, then knocked him down (EH. 9-10). Finally, he made Kenny sit in the corner of the kitchen where the trash can usually sat and put the trash can on Kenny's head (EH. 10). Kenny had to sit like that while the others finished dinner (EH. 10). This kind of abuse of Kenny was common (EH. 10). Scarpo made Kenny an example, but he beat Susan's mother as well (EH. 10).

Scarpo's beatings depended on his moods, not Kenny's behavior (EH. 10). The beatings were regular (EH. 11). Thus, Kenny would have black eyes, bruises, and marks where he was grabbed (EH. 11). He and the girls would have stripes on their arms and legs from Scarpo's belt (EH. 11). The beatings began as far back as Susan could remember and did not cease until she left (EH. 11). Scarpo beat all the children (EH. 12). Susan did not know the beatings and abuse were not normal family behavior until friends saw the bruises and marks at school and brought them to a

teacher's attention, and the teacher took her to a shelter in Charleston (EH. 12). Susan then realized the beatings were not normal and that she could get help, so she left (EH. 12).

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