## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

KENNETH ALLEN STEWART,

Appellant,

vs. CASE NO. SC96177

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE THIRTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY, FLORIDA

## ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CAROL M. DITTMAR
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 0503843
2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700
Tampa, Florida 33607-2366
Phone (813) 873-4739
Fax (813) 356-1292

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

##

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

> Judicial scrutiny counsel's οf performance must be highly deferential. It is all too tempting for a defendant to secondquess counsel's assistance after conviction or adverse sentence, and it is all too easy for a court, examining counsel's defense after it has proven unsuccessful, to conclude that a particular act or omission of counsel was unreasonable. A fair assessment of attorney performance requires that every effort be made the distorting eliminate effects hindsight, to reconstruct the circumstances of counsel's challenged conduct, and to evaluate the conduct from counsel's perspective at the

time. Because of the difficulties inherent in making the evaluation, a court must indulge a strong presumption that counsel's conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance.

Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689; see also, Rivera v. Dugger, 629 So. 2d 105, 107 (Fla. 1993) ("The fact that postconviction counsel would have handled an issue or examined a witness differently does not mean that the methods employed by trial counsel were inadequate or prejudicial"); Mills v. State, 603 So. 2d 482, 485 (Fla. 1992), cert. denied, 120 S.Ct. 804 (2000); Stano, 520 So. 2d at 281, n. 5 (noting fact that current counsel, through hindsight, would now do things differently is not the test for ineffectiveness).

At the evidentiary hearing, Rex Barbas testified directly that he explored the adoption of a voluntary intoxication defense, but abandoned that defense for strategic reasons (PC-R. V5/T111). Neither Stewart's description of the offense nor the expert witnesses to examine Stewart offered viable support for this defense (PC-R. V5/177-179, 181-182, 244-245). In addition, Barbas identified several tactical reasons for not wanting to put Stewart on the stand, and other than the testimony elicited from Michelle Acosta about Stewart's actions, there was no other evidence of intoxication available (PC-R. V5/119, 149-150, 157, 180, 186). Finally, Barbas considered that his request for an intoxication instruction and formal pursuit of that defense would open the door to the State presenting damaging expert testimony about Stewart's

elaborate recall of the details of Harris' murder (PC-R. V5/118). He felt that he could argue the beneficial portion of Acosta's testimony, without opening the door to harmful rebuttal, as support for his defense of an accidental shooting (PC-R. V5/149-153).

Stewart's primary argument is that Barbas should not have foregone the intoxication defense because it was not inconsistent with Barbas' preferred defense of an accidental shooting. However, Barbas testified that this was not his reason for declining to adopt a voluntary intoxication defense; rather, his reasons are outlined above (PC-R. V5/118, 151, 154). Notably, Stewart has not identified any additional evidence that he alleges Barbas should have presented in furtherance of an intoxication defense, or any further investigation of the issue that should have been done. He does no more than disagree with the strategic decision not to formally pursue this defense.

Thus, Barbas' conclusion not to pursue a formal intoxication defense was a strategic decision, not subject to being second-guessed in a postconviction proceeding. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689; Rutherford, 727 So. 2d at 223; Rose, 675 So. 2d at 569. In Rutherford, a strategic decision against presenting evidence of mental mitigation was upheld as effective assistance. Because counsel had investigated the mitigation and weighed the consequences of presenting this evidence to the jury, Rutherford's claim of ineffectiveness was rejected. Rutherford dictates that an

informed decision with regard to the presentation of evidence will defeat an allegation that counsel was constitutionally deficient.

In <u>Rose</u>, trial counsel was faulted for not presenting guilt phase witnesses that claimed to have seen the victim alive after the time she was alleged to have been kidnaped by Rose. In affirming the denial of postconviction relief, this Court noted that defense counsel had testified that each of the witnesses had inherent problems:

light of counsel's testimony at hearing, it is apparent that counsel was aware of the witnesses in question and knowledgeable about the pros and cons of calling them as witnesses. Based upon this knowledge, counsel made an informed strategic decision not to In light of the strong likelihood call them. that the State could have successfully impeached each of these witnesses, it is apparent that there was a reasoned basis for counsel's decision. Hence, the trial court did not err in concluding that Rose failed to demonstrate that counsel's performance was deficient.

675 So. 2d at 570. This reasoning applies equally in the instant case, and establishes the lack of merit in Stewart's argument.

Furthermore, even if this case had been tried as collateral counsel insists it should have been, the result would not have been any different. The evidence against Stewart was very strong, and much of it belied an intoxication defense. Following the shootings, Stewart drove Acosta's car, and Smith testified that Stewart was able to drive for some time after the offense (DA-R. V3/356-363). Stewart told Smith that he had Acosta turn the car

around because he noticed the area where he first directed her was too busy; Stewart also told Smith they needed to burn the car in order to get rid of fingerprints (DA-R. V3/361, 364). Barbas was correct about the State experts knowing Stewart had extensive recall of the incident, and Stewart himself told Barbas that he was acting on a plan to rob and shoot the victims (PC-R. V5/T179). All of these facts were inconsistent with a credible defense of intoxication, and would have caused any reasonable fact finder to reject even an expert's opinion that Stewart was too intoxicated to form an intent to kill. See, <u>Jennings v. State</u>, 583 So. 2d 316, 319 (Fla. 1991); White v. State, 559 So. 2d 1097, 1099 (Fla.), cert. denied, 516 U.S. 1017 (1995) (defendants' ability to recall and deliberateness of their actions inconsistent with intoxication defense). Given the strength of the State's case, even if the defense at trial had Stewart testify about how much he had to drink3 and requested an intoxication instruction, he still would have been convicted of first degree murder. Thus, he has failed to demonstrate that his attorney was deficient or that any possible deficiency could have prejudiced his trial. His claim of ineffective assistance of counsel in the guilt phase of his trial was properly denied.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Stewart has never identified what this testimony may have been, and Dr. Sultan's deposition suggests that Stewart would not be a reliable source of information on this (PC-R. V6/144).

# C. BRADY V. MARYLAND

The final issue to be addressed at the evidentiary hearing alleged a violation of <u>Brady v. Maryland</u>, 373 U.S. 83 (1963). In this claim, Stewart challenged the State's alleged failure to provide Hillsborough County Jail Records to his attorney prior to trial.<sup>4</sup> The court below ruled that no <u>Brady</u> violation had been proven because the jail records were equally available to the defense, and therefore additional voluntary disclosure was not required (PC-R. V3/377). In his argument on this claim, Stewart has not addressed the finding below of equal availability.

The trial court's ruling was a correct application of law, since it is widely recognized that <u>Brady</u> does not impose a duty to disclose exculpatory evidence that is equally available to the prosecution and defense. <u>Roberts v. State</u>, 568 So. 2d 1255 (Fla. 1990), <u>cert. denied</u>, 515 U.S. 1133 (1995); <u>James v. State</u>, 453 So. 2d 786 (Fla.), <u>cert. denied</u>, 469 U.S. 1098 (1984). The court's ruling was a correct application of fact, since unrefuted testimony from the evidentiary hearing established that these jail records could have been obtained by the defense (PC-R. V5/T222, 236). Clearly, Stewart has failed to establish any error in the trial

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>An evidentiary hearing was also granted on the claim that the State failed to disclose the true nature of the deal struck with Terry Smith for Smith's testimony. The only evidence presented at the hearing with regard to this claim was John Skye's testimony that the testimony from trial and from Smith's deposition accurately described the deal that was made (PC-R. V5/T225-230), and this claim has apparently been abandoned as it is not argued in this appeal.

court's denial of relief on this claim.

Furthermore, Rex Barbas testified at the evidentiary hearing that he believed that he did have the jail records in his possession (PC-R. V5/T120-121). And regardless of whether Barbas maintained physical possession of the records, it is beyond dispute that both Barbas and Dr. Afield were aware of the contents of these records, including Stewart's suicide attempts (PC-R. V5/T120, 158-161, 186, 192, 246; see also DA-R. V5/690). Since the mitigation now argued from the Hillsborough County jail records was known to the defense at the time of trial, Stewart cannot show any materiality with regard to these documents.

On these facts, the trial court properly rejected all of Stewart's claims which were developed factually at the evidentiary hearing. Stewart has failed to demonstrate any error in the court's rejection of his claims that his attorney was constitutionally ineffective and that the State withheld exculpatory evidence. The denial of his postconviction motion must be affirmed.

#### ISSUE II

# WHETHER THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN SUMMARILY DENYING OTHER POSTCONVICTION CLAIMS.

Stewart next challenges the trial court's summary denial of several claims in his postconviction motion which were rejected as procedurally barred. Each of his arguments will be addressed in turn; as will be seen, each of these claims could have been, and in fact some were, presented on direct appeal. It has long been the law in this State that claims which could have been, should have been, or were raised on direct appeal are not cognizable in a motion to vacate filed pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850. Shere v. State, 742 So. 2d 215 (Fla. 1999); Raqsdale v. State, 720 So. 2d 203 (Fla. 1998); Jennings, 583 So. 2d at 322; Engle, 576 So. 2d at 699; Roberts v. State, 568 So. 2d 1255 (Fla. 1990); Meeks v. State, 382 So. 2d 673 (Fla. 1980), cert. denied, 459 U.S. 1155 (1983). The court below properly denied each of these claims summarily as procedurally barred.

# A. <u>CALDWELL</u> COMMENTS/INSTRUCTIONS

Stewart initially asserts that comments and instructions to his jurors improperly characterized their role as "advisory" in violation of <u>Caldwell v. Mississippi</u>, 472 U.S. 320 (1985). This Court has consistently rejected this claim collaterally as it could and should have been raised both at trial and on direct appeal. See, <u>Johnston v. Dugger</u>, 583 So. 2d 657, 662-663, n. 2 (Fla. 1991),

cert. denied, 513 U.S. 1195 (1995); Gorham v. State, 521 So. 2d 1067, 1070 (Fla. 1988) ("Because a claim of error regarding the instructions given by the trial court should have been raised on direct appeal, the issue is not cognizable through collateral attack"). Furthermore, Stewart's suggestion that this claim is not barred because it amounts to "fundamental error" must be rejected. Medina v. State, 573 So. 2d 293, 295 (Fla. 1990), cert. denied, 517 U.S. 1247 (1996) (trial court properly rejected Caldwell issue as barred as it did not involve fundamental error). This Court has consistently rejected this claim collaterally even when combined with allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel which are not raised herein. Rose, 617 So. 2d at 297; Provenzano, 561 So. 2d at 545. The claim is also without merit. Archer v. State, 673 So. 2d 17, 21 (Fla.), cert. denied, 519 U.S. 876 (1996) (Florida standard jury instructions adequately describe role to jury); Pope v. Wainwright, 496 So. 2d 798, 805 (Fla. 1986), cert. denied, 480 U.S. 951 (1987).

#### B. PENALTY PHASE INSTRUCTIONS/BURDEN SHIFTING

Stewart's next claim alleges that the instructions given to his jury unconstitutionally shifted the burden of proof with regard to his sentence; this claim is also procedurally barred. There were several issues regarding the instructions given to Stewart's penalty phase jury argued and rejected in his direct appeal,

including the instant claim. Stewart, 549 So. 2d at 174. claim therefore demanded summary denial below. Engle, 576 So. 2d at 699 ("This claim is procedurally barred because it was rejected in the appeal from Engle's resentencing"). As previously noted, claims relating to jury instructions are consistently rejected in collateral proceedings as they can only be raised at trial and on direct appeal. See, <u>Downs v. State</u>, 740 So. 2d 506, 509, n. 4, 5 1999) (rejecting same burden shifting claim presented herein); Teffeteller v. Dugger, 734 So. 2d 1009, 1016, n. 9 (Fla.), cert. denied, 527 U.S. 1003 (1999) (same); Ragsdale, 720 So. 2d at 205, n. 2; Jennings, 583 So. 2d at 322. Stewart's reliance on Hamblen v. Dugger, 546 So. 2d 1039 (Fla. 1989), to suggest that the trial court should have considered the issue is not persuasive, since Hamblen was a habeas action which attacked appellate counsel as ineffective for failing to raise a similar issue. Hamblen clearly does not imply that a burden shifting claim premised on the trial record can be considered in a motion for postconviction relief filed pursuant to Rule 3.850, and Stewart's suggestion to the contrary must be rejected.

#### C. AUTOMATIC AGGRAVATING FACTOR

Stewart's claim that the factor of "during the course of a felony" was unconstitutionally applied since felony murder was the basis of Stewart's guilty verdict was rejected by this Court in

Stewart's second direct appeal, with the Court noting it has "rejected this argument many times." Stewart, 588 So. 2d at 973. Thus, it is clearly barred from collateral review. Engle, 576 So. 2d at 699. Stewart's claim that Espinosa v. Florida, 505 U.S. 1079 (1992), cert. denied, 511 U.S. 1152 (1994), and Stringer v. Black, 503 U.S. 222 (1992), constitute a change in law requiring this Court to revisit this issue is without merit, since those cases do not even address the particular argument presented herein.

#### D. CONSTITUTIONALITY OF STATUTE - VAGUE/OVERBROAD FACTOR

Stewart next contends that the aggravating circumstance of murder committed during a felony, as set forth in Florida's death penalty statute, is facially vague and overbroad. This is another claim which should have been raised on direct appeal, and was properly found to be barred. Hall v. State, 742 So. 2d 225, 226 (Fla. 1999); LeCroy v. Dugger, 727 So. 2d 236, 241, n. 11 (Fla. 1998); Ragsdale, 720 So. 2d at 205, n. 2. Jennings, 583 So. 2d at 322. Stewart does not even attempt to identify any error with the lower court's finding of a procedural bar on this issue.

#### E. PROSECUTORIAL ARGUMENT ON AGGRAVATING FACTORS

Stewart next alleges that the prosecutor improperly argued the existence of overbroad aggravating circumstances. This claim is both barred as one which should have been raised on direct appeal,

and insufficiently pled, in that the alleged improper argument is not adequately identified in Stewart's motion. Summary denial was therefore required. <u>Jennings</u>, 583 So. 2d at 322. Any attempt to recast the claim as one of ineffective assistance of counsel cannot revive this barred issue. See, <u>Robinson v. State</u>, 707 So. 2d 688, 697-98 (Fla. 1998) (improper to litigate barred, substantive matters in postconviction proceedings under the guise of ineffective assistance of counsel); <u>Johnson v. Singletary</u>, 695 So. 2d 263, 265 (Fla. 1996); Medina, 573 So. 2d at 295.

#### F. SHACKLING DURING TRIAL

Stewart's claim of error due to his having been shackled during trial is procedurally barred since it was rejected in his direct appeal. Stewart, 549 So. 2d at 173-174. Stewart's argument does not mention that this claim was previously rejected, and he has not attempted to identify any error with the lower court's finding of a procedural bar. Thus, collateral relief was properly summarily denied. Engle, 576 So. 2d at 699.

G. CONSTITUTIONALITY OF STATUTE - 8TH AND 14TH AMENDMENTS

Stewart next challenges the constitutional validity of

Florida's death penalty statute. This is once again an issue which

should have been raised on direct appeal, and is now procedurally

barred. Hall, 742 So. 2d at 226; LeCroy, 727 So. 2d at 241, n.

11; Ragsdale, 720 So. 2d at 205, n. 2; Jennings, 583 So. 2d at 322. Once again, Stewart does not identify any error in the finding of a procedural bar, and the trial court's ruling must be affirmed.

#### H. CUMULATIVE ERROR

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